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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

SHLOMIT RUTTKAMP,

Plaintiff,

V. No. 3:10-cv-392 (SRU)
RUPERT DE LOS REYES,
LAWRENCE MERRILL, JR.,
KAREN M. GABIANELLI, and
RICHARD MULHALL,

Defendants.

RULING ON DEFENDANTS' MOTION S FOR RECONSIDERATION AND
SECOND MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Plaintiff Shlomit Ruttkamp brought this civilgints action, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,
alleging violations of her Fourthnd Fourteenth Amendment rigtdfter she was twice arrested
and later committed for an emergency medical@tion over the course of a chaotic weekend
in July 2009. The Complaint sought damagesnultiple claims for unlawful search and
seizure, false imprisonment, false arrest malicious prosecution. On January 24, 2012, |
granted summary judgment in favairthe defendants on all claimmgcept the false arrest and
malicious prosecution claims arising from théyJy 2009 arrest for interfering with a police
officer in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-167%/ith regard to the surviving claims, |
concluded that, on the record before me, genissiges of material fact remained on the

elements of probable causaddavorable termination.

! SeeTr. of Summ. J. Hrg. (Jan. 21, 2012), at 31-32 (doc. # 48). | also granted summary
judgment in favor of Defendant De Los Reyesatiitlaims, including those arising out of the
July 5, 2009 arrest, due to ek of personal involvemenGee idat 2-3.
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Defendants Lawrence MerfjjlKaren Gabianelli, and Rielnd Mulhall (collectively
“Defendants”) moved for reconsideration of n§ing on probable cause (docs. # 49 and # 50).
Shortly thereafter, Defendanigetl, with leave othe Court, a second motion for summary
judgment, supported by several supplementadiaiis, on the issue ¢dvorable termination
(doc. # 51). As explained more fully below,fBredants’ motions for reconsideration are without
merit and are therefore DENIEDrurther, because factual piges remain on the element of
favorable termination, Defendants’ secondiomfor summary judgment must also be
DENIED.
|. Factual Background

The facts set forth below are taken from thdiparLocal Rule 56(a) Statements (docs. #
29-18, # 30-1, # 31-1, # 38-1, and # 51-2) and sujmgpaffidavits. The facts recited are
undisputed unless otherwise indeét Because this case is currently at the summary judgment
stage, disputed facts are considered in tite Inost favorable to Ms. Ruttkamp, the nonmoving
party. See, e.g., Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, IAGZ.7 U.S. 242, 255 (198@)eFabio v. E.
Hampton Union Free Sch. Dis623 F.3d 71, 74 (2d Cir. 2010) (per curiam).

Plaintiff Shlomit Ruttkamp (“Shlomit”) was borand raised in Isel, but moved to the
United States in the 1980s to live with tieen-boyfriend, William Ruttkamp (“Billy”), in
Stamford, Connecticut. Th@aple had one daughter, TraRyttkamp (“Tracy”), in 1988 and
later married. In 1997, the family moved imtdouse in Westbrook, Connecticut where Shlomit
and Billy eventually started a landscaping busin&eState Trooper Defs.’ Local R. 56(a)(1)

Stmt. 1 1-5.

20n July 10, 2012, after the instant motions were filed and fully briefed, the parties
stipulated to the dismissal of Lawrence Méas a defendant in this case (doc. # 59). |
approved the stipulation on July 12, 2012 (db60). Accordingly, the only remaining
defendants are Karen Gabidnahd Richard Mulhall.
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As the years passed, Billy and Shlomit’s tielaship became more and more tumultuous.
Billy developed drug and alcohol problems, Shlomit had anger management issues, and both
were reportedly physicallgnd verbally abusiveSeedd. § 6; Dep. of Shlomit Ruttkamp, at 8,
attached as Ex. 1 to Pl.’s Br. in Opp’n (doc. #330Aff. of Tracy Ruttkamp, at § 3, attached as
Ex. B. to State Trooper Defs.” Mot. for Summ(doc. # 29-3). The marriage deteriorated even
further when a friend, Susan Anewalt, moved into the family’s Westbrook home and became
sexually involved with both Shlomit and BillySeeAff. of Tracy Ruttkamp, at { 3.

In June 2009, Tracy, then twenty-one years old, told Billy she could no longer stand to
live in the Westbrook house because her mailaex too controlling and because she could no
longer tolerate the umlalthy sexual relationships and physdiabuse going on in the homiel. at
1 5. Billy decided to leave Shlomit and file ftivorce. He found an apartment in Chester, and
Tracy agreed to sign the leaand move in with himld.

In the early morning of July 3, 2009, Bilnd Tracy moved out of the Westbrook house
and into the Chester apartment. A few hourg |&blomit was served with divorce papers and
became extremely upset. Shlomit appearddaty’s place of employment and an argument
ensued.ld. at § 6. The police were entually called to the scenbut the officers found no
reason to detain Shlomit or Tracgeelncident Rep., at 69, attached as Ex. C. to State Trooper
Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J. (doc. # 29-4). Latbat evening, while statyg with Billy at the
Chester apartment, Tracy received multipleceaiails from Shlomit on her cellphone in which
her mother allegedly threatenedkith herself, Billy and Tracy®> SeeState Trooper Defs.’ Local

R. 56(a)(1) Stmt. T 16.

% Shlomit denies that she ever threatenddlkdracy, but admits that she may have left
voicemails threatening to kill herself and Bill§geePl.’s Local R. 56(a)(2) Smt. { 16.



A. July 4, 2009 Arrest

On July 4, 2009, Shlomit apologized taag€y for the previous day’s events and
convinced Tracy to tell her where Tracy and Billy were now livirdy.J 19. Later that evening,
Shlomit accompanied Tracy to the Chester apartnben when Shlomit attempted to enter the
home against Billy’s will, a physical altetean ensued. Neighbors, hearing the commotion,
called the police Seed. 1 16; Pl.’s Local R. 56(a)(2) Stnff 23. The police arrived, including
defendant Trooper Mulhalland detained Billy. The police then proceeded to arrest Shlomit
and charged her with Disorderly Conduct and Simple Tresj@esnvestigation Rep., attached
as Ex. 2 to PI's Br. in Opp’n (doc. # 30-3After Shlomit was released from custody, Tracy
drove Shlomit to the Westbrook house at approxagat:00 a.m. and decided to stay the night
with her mother because Tracy did feel safe staying with Billy SeeState Trooper Defs.’
Local R. 56(a)(1) Stmt. | 25.

B. July 5, 2009 Arrest

On the morning of July 5, 2009, Billy grew concerned for Tracy and telephoned his
sister, Cindy Mammone. Billy informed Mammoakthe events of the preceding days and
expressed his fear that Shlomit midpet holding Tracy against her willd. at 27. After Tracy
failed to respond to several text messages, Manencalled a relative, Trooper De Los Reyes, at

his home while he was off dutyd. {1 29-30. After a short conversation, both De Los Reyes

* Trooper Nicholas Tewell was also on the scéuihe is not a named defendant in this
suit. SeeCompl., at 1.

® Shlomit contends that, although the poliappeared” to arrest Billy, he was not
actually arrestedSeePl.’s Local R. 56(a)(2) Stmt.  2#owever, the police report of Trooper
Nicholas Tewell states that Billwas arrested and charged witlsorderly Conduct as well as
Third Degree AssaultSeelnvestigation Rep., attached as EXto State Trooper Defs.” Reply
Br. (doc. # 36).



and Mammone placed calls to the Westbrook paiud expressed their concerns to Defendant
Sergeant Gabianelli. Sergeant Gabianelli, in,tdetided to do a well-b&y check on Tracy at
the Westbrook homeSeeAff. of Karen Gabianelli, at § Gttached as Ex. F to State Trooper
Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J. (doc. # 29-7).

Defendants Trooper Mulhall and Constable Merriltevthe first officers to arrive at the
Westbrook home. The officers asked to etiterhome to check on Tracy’s well-being and
Shlomit agreed SeeState Trooper Defs.’ Local R. 56(a)@imt. I 38. Shlomit let the officers
into the home and told them thEdacy was upstairs in her bedrooihd. Constable Merrill went
upstairs to check on Tracy, while Trooper Mulhall stayith Shlomit in the foyer of the house.
Id. § 39. Merrill asked Tracy’s permission tdearthe bedroom to speavith her, and she
agreed. Thereafter, Sergeant Gabianelli adratethe scene and went straight to Tracy’s
bedroom. Gabianelli asked Tracy if she was being held against her will and Tracy answered in
the negative.ld. 1 44. Believing the matter was over, Gabianelli and Merrill proceeded
downstairs and madéaeir exit.

Meanwhile, Mammone learned from Billy that Shlomit had called Tracy and left
threatening voicemail messages on her cell phtohe]] 52. Mammone telephoned the
Westbrook police and asked them to pass this irdtiam on to Sergeant Gabianelli. Back at the
Westbrook home, as she walked across the framt, I&abianelli received a call from State
Police Troop F asking her to telephone their office. Gabianelli called the dispatcher and was
informed about the threatening voicemail messages that Shlomit allegedly left on Tracy’s cell

phone.Id. 1 53-55.

® Sergeant Gabianelli thereafonfirmed that the Old $harook Police had been called
on July 3, 2009 when Shlomit pulled Tracy out of her workpl&eseAff. of Karen Gabianelli,
at 6.



After learning this information, Gabianeilirned back and approached Tracy on the
lawn. Id. 1 56. Gabianelli told Tradpat her father was concerned because Shlomit had been
leaving threatening voimnails on her cell phorfeld. Gabianelli asked Tracy if Shlomit had left
threatening messages, but Tracy hesitaecause Shlomit was staring at héd. 7 58.

Sergeant Gabianelli then asked Tr#cghe would play the messagr her. Shlomit testified
as follows:

[W]hen Officer Gabianelli was asking [Trddp play the thing, she was staring at

me. She wasn't even intending to do 8he was staring at me. | said, “Tracy,

you don’t have to do it. You have rights. They have to have a search warrant” . .

. After Sergeant Gabianelli said, “Don’ttés to her, play them, play them[,]” |

said, “Don’t. They will get me itrouble. | can go to jail.”

Dep. of Shlomit Ruttkamp, at 70, attachedEas1 to Pl.’s Br. in Opp’n (doc. # 30-3)At her

deposition, Shlomit also stated that when shderthese verbal protetitns she was at least

five feet away from her daughter and nevedenany physical attempt to take the cell phone

" The cell phone in question belonged to Tracy and was under Billy’s accdeftate
Trooper Defs.’ Local R. 56(a)(1) Stmt. § 57.

8 According to Shlomit, neither she nor Tramyer confirmed to Sergeant Gabianelli that
threatening messages were, in fact, left aacy’s cell phone. Dep. of Shlomit Ruttkamp, at 51-
53, attached as Ex. 1 to PIBs. in Opp’n (doc. # 30-3).

® Tracy described these events slightly differently. She testified:

| agreed [to play the messages]. No onerced me. Of my own free will, | took
out my phone and, as | wgstting ready to dial myoicemail, my mother said,
“Don’t play that, they will send me to jaiDo you want me to go to jail? You will
never see me again.” | domued to dial the phonend put it on speaker phone so
that everyone could hear the voicemails. iMgther then got jumpy and screamed
louder as she waived her hands, “they needarrant, they need a warrant. Don’t
let them do that!”

Aff. of Tracy Ruttkamp, at 1 18, attached as B. to State Trooper Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J.
(doc. # 29-3). Shlomit’s veisn is credited for purposes thfe present motions.



from her'® Seed. at 54, 73. Nevertheless, Tracy nepkayed the voice messages for the
officers. Shlomit was then arrested for inéenfig in violation of ©nn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-167a.

Sometime later, after Shlomit had been sported via patrol cdo the booking station,
Sergeant Gabianelli had Shlomit involuntarily coitted for a mental health evaluation given
her erratic behaviomal suicidal ideationsSeeState Trooper Defs.” Local R. 56(a)(1) Stmt. 1
63-64.

C. Nolle Prosequi i€onnecticut Superior Court

The officers referred the criminal mattersSenior Assistant State’s Attorney Barbara
Hoffman who was responsible for prosecuting thecds an affidavit submitted to the Court,
Hoffman stated that she agreed to enter a podsequi on both sets of charges (arising from
both the July 4, 2009 and the July 5, 2009 incs)em¢cause Shlomit completed counseling that
was recommended by the Family Relations Slon of the Connecticut Judicial Branch
(hereinafter “Family Relations”)SeeAff. of Barbara Hoffman, at § 14, attached as Ex. K to
State Trooper Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J. (d829-12). On October 23, 2009, Assistant State’s
Attorney Brian Kennedy appeared in Superior Cbefore Judge Vitale and entered the nolle.
SeeTr. of Proceedings, attached as Ex. L to&Staboper Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J. (doc. # 29-
13). The transcript of the hearing itself, remwer, contained no meati of the nolle being
conditional on the completion of coutieg or any other requiremenSee id Moreover, when

Shlomit was asked at her deposition whether thegmutor agreed to nolle the case because she

19 Shlomit denied making any attempt to swe phone away from Tracy’s hands. Dep.
of Shlomit Ruttkamp, at 73. Further, Shlomattked that she never attempted to reach for
Tracy or touch the officerdd. at 75.



had completed family counselinghe replied in the negativ&eeDep. of Shlomit Ruttkamp, at
961
II.  Procedural Background

On March 16, 2010, Shlomit filed the instdasuit, seeking damages under 42 U.S.C.
8 1983 for unlawful search and seizure, fasest, false imprisonment, and malicious
prosecution.SeeCompl. (doc. # 1). Defendantdda moved for summary judgment on all
claims (docs. # 29 and # 31).

At a hearing held on January 24, 2012,drded summary judgment in favor of
Defendants in substantial part, but denied samrjudgment on the false arrest and malicious
prosecution claims arising from the July 5, 2@@&st for interfering under Conn. Gen. Stat. §
53a-167a.SeeTr. of Summ. J. Hrg. (doc. # 48). As astd in my oral ruhig, the claim for false
arrest survived summary judgment “becauseoffieers lacked probable cause to arrest for
interference with a poleofficer, because that arrest vil@sed only on the plaintiff's verbal
protestations or verbal pleading to her daughtérto turn over aell phone, which is not
sufficient under decisions of the Connecticup@me Court to sustain a claim for interference
with a police officer under Connecticut LawSeed. at 4. Further, the offers were not entitled
to qualified immunity because, under clearly Bis&aed Connecticut law, verbal interference
alone does not violate section 53a-167rkess “fighting words” are usedee idat 5-9 (citing
State v. Williams205 Conn. 456 (1987)). Lastly, the clafion malicious prosecution survived

because “there [was] a genuine issue of matitalwith respect to whether the prosecution

1 gpecifically, when asked at her depositidmether the prosecutor agreed to nolle the
case because she had gone to family couns&@migmit responded: “No, no. They just agreed
to nolle the case because they felt that it wdsetoolled. Actually, | went to see the counselor
before the nolle. . . . Actually, my lawyer suggestedche before we even went into the family
court to look for a counselor.Dep. of Shlomit Ruttkamp, at 96.



against the plaintiff for that arrest terminated in her favéd.” Specifically, there was

conflicting evidence in the record before orewhether the nollentered pursuant to a
bargained-for exchange with the plaintiff, ahds factual disputes remained on the issue of
favorable termination. After issuing the rulinggreinted Defendants request for leave to file a
second motion for summary judgment on the naisswe of favorable termination if Defendants
were able to supplement the record with addél@affidavits showing the nolle was, in fact,
entered pursuant to a bargained-for exchamhdieat 27.

On February 21, 2012, Defendants moved foonsideration of my ruling on probable
cause (docs. # 49 and # 50). Shortly thereafteFebruary 24, 2012, Defendants filed a second
motion for summary judgment on the issudéasorable termination, supported by several
supplemental affidavits (doc. # 51).

lll. Defendants’ Motions for Reconsideration

| begin by addressing Defendantsbtions for reconsideratiofi. As explained more

fully below, both motions lack nni¢ and are therefore denied.

A. Standard of Review

The standard for granting motions fecconsideration is strict. Motions for
reconsideration “will generally be denied ess the moving party can point to controlling
decisions or data that the cborerlooked — matters, in othetords, that might reasonably be
expected to alter the consion reached by the courtShrader v. CSX Transp., In@0 F.3d
255, 257 (2d Cir. 1995). Motions for reconsidematwill not be granted where the party merely
seeks to re-litigate an issue that has already been decided.he three major grounds for

granting a motion for reconsideration are: (1)rdarvening change ofotrolling law, (2) the

12 Both motions seek identical relief, eech is supported by different arguments and
case citations.



availability of new evidence, or (3) the need torect a clear error or prevent manifest injustice.
Virgin Atl. Airways, Ltd. v. Nat'l Mediation Bd956 F.2d 1245, 1255 (2d Cir. 1992) (citing 18
CHARLES A. WRIGHT, ET AL., FEDERAL PRACTICE & PROCEDURES 4478).

B. Discussion

In their motions for reconsideration, Defendacdntend that | erred in determining that
genuine issues of matatifact remained on whether the offrs had at least arguable probable
cause to arrest Shlomitrfnterfering on July 5, 2005. Defendants, however, have not
introduced any controlling law grarticular facts that | overlooklan considering their motions
for summary judgment, nor have they otheenisdicated a manifestjustice requiring
reconsiderationRather, the proffered grounds for reconsideration are nothing more than
attempts to relitigate issues previously decidegShrader 70 F.3d at 257, or attempts to raise
arguments that should have been raised before my rufiegPacker v. SN Servicing Car250
F.R.D. 108, 112 (D. Conn. 2008) (“Motions for recdesation are not degned to allow parties
to make arguments that they could have amdishhave made before the court ruled.”).
Nonetheless, | briefly address eaxffDefendants’ arguments below.

It is axiomatic that probable cause providesaesting officer with an absolute defense

13 Defendants wrongly assert thitte Court, sua sponte, alsaised that Shlomit's verbal
conduct of trying to convince herwghter not to turn over evidea to the police is protected by
the First Amendment.'SeeMem. of Law in Supp. of Joint Mot. for Reconsideration (doc. # 49-
1), at 3. Defendants, frankly, saipprehend the basis of my rulingnever raised, nor was there
ever any need to raise, a segta First Amendment challengeShomit's arrest for verbal
interference. The ConnecticBupreme Court has already limitée scope of section 53a-167a
to proscribe only physical conduand “fighting” words. See State v. William&05 Conn. 456,
473-76 (1987) (“To avoid the risk of constitanal infirmity, we ®nstrue § 53a-167a to
proscribe only physical conduct and fighting wordst thy their veryutterance inflict injury or
tend to incite an immediate breach of the pea¢mtg¢rnal quotation omitted). Thus, | merely
applied controlling Connecticut law—Iaw that Heeen clearly established for more than twenty
years—to conclude that Defendaticked probable cause to arr@ktomit for interfering based
on verbal statements that all partiesesggdid not amount to “fighting” words.
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to claims of false arrestnd malicious prosecutiorCaldarola v. Calabrese298 F.3d 156, 161
(2d Cir. 2002). Probable cause exists if the defendants had “knowledge or reasonably
trustworthy information sufficiertb warrant a person of reasonabéaition in the belief that an
offense ha[d] been committed by the person to be arresRahetta v. Crowley460 F.3d 388,
395 (2d Cir. 2006) (internal citations omittedyWhether probable cause existed is a question
that may be resolved as a matter of law on aandor summary judgment if there is no dispute
with regard to the pertinent ewsrand knowledge of the officer\Weinstock v. Wilk296 F.

Supp. 2d 241, 246 (D. Conn. 2003) (cit\geyant v. OkstLlO1 F. 3d 845, 852 (2d Cir. 2003)).
Where there are critical facts in dispute, however, the case is one for théalgzyk v. Rip

496 F.3d 139, 157 (2d Cir. 2007).

In the case at bar, Shlomit’s claims temwhether Defendants had probable cause, or at
least arguable probable cause, to arrest hentienfering. Under Connecticut law, a person is
guilty of interfering with an officer “when such person obstructs, resists, hinders or endangers
any peace officer . .. in the performance afspeace officer’s . . . duties.” Conn. Gen. Stat. §
53a-167a. The law prohibits any action that ititarally meddles in or hampers a police officer
in the performance of her dutiesState v. Williams205 Conn. 456, 471-72 (198¥)hite v.

Wortz 66 F. Supp. 331, 334 (D. Conn. 1999). Wheeedttiending conduct is merely verbal,
however, the Connecticut Supreme Court has held that it doesnstitate illegal interference
to “merely question[] a police officer’s awuttty or protest[] hé or her action."Williams, 205
Conn. at 472. Rather, the Court limited the stasuterbal application tfighting words” only;
that is, words that “by their vemytterance inflict injuy or tend to incitean immediate breach of
the peace.”ld. at 473 (quotindgdouston v. Hil] 482 U.S. 451, 461-62 (1987%ee also Dorman

v. Sattj 862 F.2d 432, 435 (2d Cir. 1988) (“In constigithe Connecticut statute to proscribe
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only physical conduct anfighting” words, Chaplinsky v. New Hampshir@15 U.S. 568, 572
(1942), the court iWilliamswas able to fit the statute within the constitutional parameters of
free speech.”). Fighting words “portend imminphysical violence oare likely to prompt
imminent physical retaliation.'State v. Szymkiewic237 Conn. 613, 619 (1996). Also, because
police officers are expected to exercise a higlegiree of restraint than the average citizen, the
type of “fighting words” that wuld violate this statute is nawer than under other actionable
circumstancesWilliams, 205 Conn. at 474 n.7.

First, Defendants argue that | overlook&ohnecticut authoritpertaining to verbal
conduct sufficient to warramin arrest for interferinyf. Specifically, Defendants contend that
recent Connecticut cases have expanded the @ngpnduct that is violative of section 53a-
167a beyond physical resistance and speech amouatifighting” words. Defendants rely on
two recent Connecticut Supreme Court decisiState v. Algi280 Conn. 824 (2007), aglate
v. Silvg 285 Conn. 447 (2008). Neither caseatcols the outcome here.

In Aloi, the Court upheld a conviction for interénce where the defendant refused an
officer’s request to produce identiditton during the course of a lawflérry stop. 280 Conn. at
840-41. The Court reasoned thatfasal to comply with a requegir identification during an

investigative stop constituted verbal “conddtthat may hamper or B the progress of that

14 Defendants also cite multiple decisions from foreign jurisdictions—notably
interpreting different statstatutes—to support their motions for reconsiderat®ee, e.g., King
v. Ambs519 F.3d 607, 615 (6th Cir. 2008pwyer v. City of Council Bluff861 F.3d 1099,
1107 (8th Cir. 2004)People v. Knight910 N.Y.S. 2d 358 (Crim. Ct. 201®eople v. Gibhs
115 1ll. App. 2d 113 (1st Dist. 1969). Howeveitations to non-contiting decisions from
foreign jurisdictions are entirely insufficient noeet the strict standagdor reconsiderationSee
Shrader 70 F.3d at 257 (stating that tiums for reconsideration “Wigenerally be denied unless
the moving party can point tmntrolling decisions or data thatdltourt overlooked”) (emphasis
added).

> The Court was careful to point out ttiae state was relying on the defendantaduct
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investigation and, therefore, aomt to illegal interferenceld. at 834. Similarly, irSilva the
Court relied on its previous decisionAioi to uphold a jury verdict for illegal interference where
the defendant had refused to produce identiboaat the officers’ request after they had
observed Silva violating sevétsaaffic laws. 285 Conn. at 4567. Significantly, however, the
Aloi Court specifically limited itdolding to the narrow facts ofdhcase, stating: “Although a
refusal to comply with certaiother types of lawful police commands or orders may provide a
basis for prosecution under § 53a-167a, . . . fqpgmes of this opinionwe need not consider
any factual scenario other thartbcenario presented by the lawFelry stop in the present
case.” Aloi, 280 Conn. at 841 n.22 (intefreatations omitted).

The case at bar obviously does not involvieeery stop or a refusal to comply with a
police officer’s request for identifation. Thus, Defendants’ reliance Aloi is simply
misplaced. But even more broadly, Shlomvigsbal conduct did nahvolve the kind of
disobedience and noncompliance tAkti and its progeny meant to bring within section 53a-
167a’s reach. As this Courtdaoted elsewhere, @necticut courts most frequently find
illegal interference witla police officer where the officenakes a direct request, which the
defendant refuses to comply with, and it is tiediisalthat hinders or impedes the course of the
investigation of the defendant or therformance of thefficer’'s duties.” Acevedo v. Sklay553
F. Supp. 2d 164, 168 (D. Conn. 2008) (citBtgte v. Peruta24 Conn. App. 598 (1991)).

Here, as ilAcevedpShlomit never refused to complyth an officer’s requests nor did

in refusing to provide identdation, and not his attendaspieechto support the conviction for
interfering. Aloi, 280 Conn. 834 n.14 (“[T]he state relies on the defendant’s conduct in refusing
to provide Salvatore with identificationné not on the defendant’s speech, to support the
defendant’s conviction. Moreovexs the state notes, there ishiog) in the record to indicate

that the defendant’s conviction svaredicated solely on the deflant’s speech as distinguished
from his conduct.”). Here, however, Shlomit nexefused any officer'sequest and nothing in
Shlomit’s verbal pleadings or protestatiamverted her speech to anything resembling
“conduct.”
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she disobey an officer’s orderistead, crediting Shlomit’'s veos of events, when the officers
asked Tracy to play the messages from her phioaey looked to her mother for guidance and
Shlomit responded, saying: “Tracy, you don’t haweo it. You have rights. They have to
have a search warrant.” Dep. of Shlomit Rattip, at 70. However, even after Shlomit made
these statements, no one ordered Shlomit not to speakjuested that she leave the scene of the
investigation'® Rather, when the officers pressed Tracplay the messages, Shlomit, standing
at least five feet away, pleaded: “Don’t. They get me in trouble. | can go to jail.ld. at 70-
71. Shlomit’s verbal conduct may have bedesuasive and desperate, but it was never
disobedient. Nor did Shlomit’s statent®somehow aid, abet, or exhort Tracyitdawfully

refuse an officer’s request. Unlike the defendan&SlanandSilva Tracy was never “seized” as
the object of a legitimat€erry stop. Instead, the officers sought hensento what amounted

to a search of her voicemail messages. Twaayalways free to refuse, whether on her own
accord or upon the advice of her mother. Thus, nothiddoinor Silvapersuades me to
reconsider my ruling that arjcould find that Defendantad¢ked probable cause to arrest

Shlomit for interfering'’

18 For this reason, Defendants’ heavy relianc&iory v. Ambs519 F.3d 607 (6th Cr.
2008), is unavailingKing involved an arrest for obstrtien under a Michigan township
ordinance. In that case, the defendant repeatedid his friend to ignoran officer’'s questions
and continued to interrupt the investigation eaéiar the officer commanded the defendant to
stop interfering.ld. at 610. Unlike the officer iKing, the officers here never told Shlomit that
she was interrupting their investigation, wid they instruct her to desist.

17 Defendants also cite an unfished district court decisiofroster v. Carf 2006 WL
1980314 (D. Conn. July 13, 2006), for the propositiat erbal statements may violate the
interference statutek-oster, however, inadvertently overlook&dilliamsand relied exclusively
on the Appellate Court’s decision $8tate v. Allgi86 Conn. App. 363 (2004), a decision that was
later reversed in part by the Connecticut Supreme C&a. State v. Allp280 Conn. 824
(2007). In granting summary judgment ivda of defendants on the basis of qualified
immunity, Fosterconcluded that “even assuming faurposes of this ruling thadoi, which was
decided in 2004, sets forth that verbal statemesmsot constitute a suffent basis to arrest

14



Second, Defendants argue that they are edttth qualified immuity because the law
pertaining to verbal interferencenad at third parties, rather thpalice officers, was not clearly
established. In support, Defemdg stress that there is no eapecifically holding that the
interfering statute does not reaarbal protestations and entreatreade to third parties—like
Tracy—who are the objects of padi investigation. However, the absence of specific authority
directly on point does not necessarily g#atDefendants to qualified immunitysee Shabazz v.
Coughlin 852 F.2d 697, 701 (2d Cir. 1988). Law tenclearly established for purposes of
qualified immunity analysis, even in the absencspacific authority direty on point, if state
court decisions “clearly foreshad@aparticular ruling on the issueVarrone v. Bilottj 123
F.3d 75, 79 (2d Cir. 1997) (internal quotation nsaoknitted). Indeed, as the Second Circuit
noted inShabazzthe absence of case law can be erpldiin part because police departments
have “seen the writing on the wall” and traintbdir officers to avoid arrests they know will pose
constitutional problemsShabazz852 F.2d at 701.

As noted above, the Connecticut SupremearCspecifically limited the scope of the
interference statute as follows: “To avoid tiek of constitutional infirmity, we construe53a-
167a to proscribe only physical conduct and figghtvords that by thewery utterance inflict
injury or tend to incite an immediate breach of the peat@liams 205Conn at473 (internal
guotation marks omitted). This unequivocal staetirom the state’s highest court “leaves no

room for an interpretation that would permit arrest for verbahterference involving

pursuant to section 53&1a, this law was not establishedts time of plaintiff's arrest [in
2002].” Foster, 2006 WL 1980314, at *4. Unfortunatelpsterneglected to conswilliams
a case decided in 1987, in which the Connecfeytreme Court stated: “To avoid the risk of
constitutional infirmity, we construe33a-167a to proscribe onphysical conduct and fighting
words that by their very uttamae inflict injury ortend to incite an immediate breach of the
peace.” 20%Conn at473 (internal quotation marks omittedjor this reason, | do not find the
Court’s reasoning ifrosterpersuasive.
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something other than fighting wordsDarbisi v. Town of Monrae2002 WL 32348250, at *2
(D. Conn. Jan. 11, 2002).

Here, there is no dispute that Shlomit'shad interference never amounted to fighting
words; nothing she said tended “to in@teimmediate breach of the peac#Villiams 205
Conn. at 473. Shlomit neither threateneddearghter nor urged any violent or physical
response to the officer’s request. Thus, thetfaadtShlomit’s verbal pleadings and protestations
were directed at her daughterstead of an officer, is immaterial. No matter who she was
talking to, Shlomit’s speech, which “mereajuestion[ed] a police officer’s authority or
protest[ed] his or her action,” walainly outside the reach séction 53a-167a as construed by
the Connecticut Supreme Cotittld. at 472.

Third, Defendants argue that, even if they &tbrobable cause torest for interfering,
they had at least arguable probable cause teté@hdomit for other crimes. As Defendants
correctly point out, when defending against claiordalse arrest, an officer’s “subjective reason
for making the arrest need not be the crimoféénse as to which the known facts provide
probable cause.Devenpeck v. Alforb43 U.S. 146, 153 (2004). “[AJaim for false arrest
turns only on whether probable case existedresaa defendant, and . . . it is not relevant

whether probable cause existed with respeetth individual charger, indeed, any charge

18 Defendants also argue that the offideasl probable cause to arrest Shlomit for
interfering based on her “physical conduct” ildaing Tracy and the officers into the yard
when Gabianelli asked to hear the phone mess&g=\em. of Law in Supp. of Joint Mot. for
Reconsideration (doc. # 49-1), at 17. This arguoinis entirely meritles. Shlomit did nothing
more than walk out onto her own front lawmdastand approximately 5-10 feet away from the
officers. The entire incident occurred on Shlomit’s property—an area where she had every right
to be. Moreover, unlike the defendanSitate v. Peruta24 Conn. App. 598 (1991), Shlomit
was never asked to move away from the scene, and therefore never disobeyed an officer’s
command to do so. On these facts, reasonableeddfcould not disagree that Defendants lacked
probable cause to arrest Shiofor interfering based solelgn her “physical conduct” in
following the officers onto her own front lawn.
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actually invoked by the arrestindficer at the time of arrest.Jaegly v. Couch439 F.3d 149,
154 (2d Cir. 2006)see also Espada v. Schneide?2 F. Supp. 2d 544, 552 (S.D.N.Y. 2007)
(granting summary judgment in favor of the defaridan a false arrestacin where the plaintiff
was arrested for felony assault on a police offimdrthere was, “at minimum, probable cause to
believe that the plaintiff had committed disorderly conduct”).

At the outset, it bears mentioning that, evddefendants could establish that they had
probable cause to arrest Shlofort crimes other than interfeug, the battle is only half won.
The Second Circuit has made clear that, althabgtexistence of probable cause to arrest for
other, uncharged crimes provides a defense tmslaf false arrest, théct does not otherwise
preclude claims for nli@ious prosecutionSee D’Angelo v. KirschneR88 F. App’'x 724, 726
(2d Cir. 2008) (Jaeglydid not involve a malicious prosd@n claim and its holding is not
applicable to such a claim. @me contrary, it is error ‘to confi@ probable cause to arrest with
probable cause to believe that [D’Angelojutd be successfully psecuted.”) (quotindosr v.
Court Officer Shield No. 20280 F.3d 409, 417 (2d Cir. 1999)) @#tion in original). But
putting that obstacle aside, the hurdle remains fugHisposing of the false arrest claim, too.
Even assumingrguendg that other crimes could be imgdited or imagined in this case,
genuine disputes remain regaugl whether the officers had prdila cause, or even arguable

probable cause, to arrest Shiofor those crimes as wefl.

19 As noted above, | previously grantedf@edant’s motion for summary judgment on
Shlomit’s false imprisonment claim arising outtbé officers’ later decision to involuntarily
commit Shlomit for a mental health euwation based on herisidal ideations.SeeTr. of Summ.

J. Hrg. (Jan. 21, 2012), at 4. Connecticut lathatizes any police offer “who has reasonable
cause to believe that a person is mentally ill anmdydeous to himself, herself, or others” and “in
need of immediate car@a treatment” to take such a person into custody or “cause such person
to be taken to a general hospital for emeayeexamination.” Conn. Gen. Stat. § 17a-503.
However, the fact that Defendants argudidy “reasonable cause” itovoluntarily commit

Shlomit for an evaluation does nwcessarily defeat her claim for false arrest. As an initial

17



Defendants claim they had probable causattest Shlomit for three other crimes: (1)
threatening in the second degmeeiolation of Conn. Gen. Sta§.53a-62; (2) harassment in the
second degree in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-183; and (3) sialkiregthird degree in
violation of Conn. Gen. Sta§ 53a-181e. | brieflyddress each in turn.

Under Connecticut law, a person is gudfythreatening in th second degree when:

(1) By physical threat, such person mtienally places or attempts to place

another person in fear of imminentriseis physical injury, (2) such person

threatens to commit any crime of violence with the intent to terrorize another

person, or (3) such person threatens to citreath crime of viance in reckless

disregard of the riskf causing such terror.
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-62. Defendaatgue they had probaldause to arrest Shlomit for
“threatening” based on reports that Shlol@it voicemail messages on Tracy’s cell phone
stating she would kill herself, Bylland Tracy. However, factualsfiutes remain with regard to
what information the officers actually possesseola the voicemails at the time of Shlomit’s
arrest. Where the facts available to the amgstificers immediately preced) the arrest are in
dispute, summary judgment is inappropriadee, e.g., Francis v. Coughli®91 F.2d 43, 47 (2d
Cir. 1989) (dispute regarding facts necessamstablish constitutional violation precluded

summary judgment based on qualified immunity).

As an initial matter, Shlomit has unequivdgalenied ever threatening to kill Tracy,

matter, it is undisputed that the decisiomigoluntarily commit Shlomit came sometime after

she was arrested for interfering and taken ¢ostiation for booking. But regardless of timing,

the two claims are sufficiently distinct so thia¢ failure of one claim does not doom the other.
Although “false arrest” antfalse imprisonment” derive from éhsame species tirt, an arrest
involves a materially different harm than adiwal evaluation. An arrest, unlike a medical
evaluation, is designed to punish and comes thighadded risk of criminal prosecution.

Moreover, the quantum of prooéoessary to support an arrestats from that of a medical
evaluation. An officer must haverobable cause” to support arrest, while mere “reasonable
cause” suffices for an evaluation under section 17a-503. Thus, my previous ruling on the false
imprisonment claim does not necessarily dethe outcome on the false arrest claim.
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though she admitted she may have left messagest¢iming to harm herself and/or Bill$see

Pl.’s Local R. 56(a)(2) Smt. § 16. Moreovescarding to Shlomit's account, which must be
credited on summary judgmemthen Gabianelli asked Tragyhether her mother left any
threatening messages, Tracy never respon8edDep. of Shlomit Ruttkamp, at 52-53. Thus,
unlike the officers irPierson v. Hancocgk?011 WL 2938060 (D. Conn. July 19, 2011), &edn

v. Fisher 2007 WL 2874777 (D. Conn. Sept. 28, 2007¢, @fficers here could not rely on
complaints from the putative victim to support a finding of probable cesse.Miloslavsky v.
AES Eng’g Soc’y808 F. Supp. 351, 355 (S.D.N.Y. 1992) (“[dtwell-established that a law
enforcement official has probable cause to aifés received his information from some
person, normally the putatiwéctim or eyewitness”)aff'd, 993 F.2d 1534 (2d Cir. 1993).

Rather, the only evidence of threatening thecefs had at the time of the arrest was based on
Mammone’s phone call to the police station. it report was itselfased on uncorroborated
hearsay: Mammone informed the police that her brother, Billy, had revealed to her that Shilomit
had left threatening voiceail messages on Tracy’s phorgeeState Trooper Defs.’ Local R.
56(a)(1) Stmt. 1 52. Mammone, however, ndwaa access to Tracy’s cell phone, never heard
any of the voicemails, and had not even spokéirdoy herself for several days. Thus, the basis
of her knowledge was tenuous at beSge, e.g., Nieves v. New York City Police D@ptL0 WL
330205, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 26, 2010) (finding off&ckacked probable cause to arrest based on
“uncorroborated hearsay statement” from dorimant who “was not an eyewitness to the
shooting, had no personal knowledifghe shooter’s identity, and [where] defendants took no
steps to corroborate her statememor to arresting [plaintiff].”);see also Cortez v. McCauley

478 F.3d 1108, 1119 (10th Cir. 2007) (en banc) (lhgldnat officers lackedrobable cause to

execute a warrantless arrest whtrey “relied, without anynvestigation, exclusively on the
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double-hearsay statement of a nurse who had no personal knowledge of the actual facts . . .
especially given that officers could easily haverviewed the nurse . . . or the [victim with
whom the nurse spoke] before moving to arresipf§”). Based on the disputed record before
me, | cannot conclude as a matter of law thatafficers had sufficient credible information to
support a finding of probable cause to arrest Shlomit for threatening. Thus, Defendants’
argument fails to persuade me to alter my previous ruling.
For essentially the same reasons, Defesdangument regarding harassment in the
second degree also falls short. A persayuity of harassment ithe second degree when:
(1) By telephone, he addresses another in or uses indecent or obscene language; or
(2) with intent to harasgnnoy or alarm another person, he communicates with a
person by telegraph or mail, by electically transmitting a facsimile through
connection with a telephometwork, by computer networks defined in section
53a-250, or by any other form of writteeommunication, in a manner likely to
cause annoyance or alarm; (@) with intent to harss, annoy or alarm another
person, he makes a telephone call, whretirenot a conversation ensues, in a
manner likely to cause annoyance or alarm.
Conn. Gen. Stat. 8§ 53a-183. Defendaargue that they had probaluause to arrest Shlomit for
harassment based on Shlomit’s multiple phone ealtsallegedly threatening messages over the
previous two days. However, as explained ahaccording to Shlomit's version of events, at
the time of the arrest the officers had no Speciformation from the putative victim (i.e.,
Tracy) that Shlomit had placed harassing phone c@ihsis, material issues fact remain in
dispute as to what credible information the adéfs could have relied on in making an arrest for
harassment.
Lastly, Defendants claim they had probablesesaio arrest Shlomit for stalking in the
third degree. A person is guilty of stalking in the third degree when she “recklessly causes

another person to reasonably fear for his physical safety by willfully and repeatedly following or

lying in wait for such other person.” CorBen. Stat. § 53a-181e. ke Defendants contend

20



they had probable cause to arrest Shlomisfalking not because of her actions on July 5, 2009,
but because of events that occurred two @ayber—when Shlomit pulled Tracy out of work to
guestion her about the divorce. The argumemntdstless. Defendants ignore the fact that the
Old Saybrook police were calleditovestigate the eventd July 3, 2009 that very same day and
notably found no reason to detain either Shlomit or Tr&selncident Rep., at 69, attached as
Ex. C. to State Trooper Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J. (doc. # 29-4). The investigation into any
alleged “stalking” was already complete beftite events leading t8hlomit’s July 5, 2009
arrest even began. Thus, Defendants’ argunmntbe existence of probable cause to arrest
Shlomit for crimes other than interfering are urgp@isive. | see no reason to alter my previous
ruling in this case.

In sum, the asserted grounds for reconsitiien are without mér Accordingly, the
motions for reconsideration (docg.49 and # 50) are denied.
IV.  Defendants’ Second Motion for Summary Judgment

| now turn to address Defendants’ second motion for summary judgment regarding the
element of favorable termination—an element hgzttties agree must be proven to sustain the
plaintiff's claims for false arrestnd malicious prosecution. Becatfaetual disputes remain on
the circumstances surrounding the nolle proseqtered in this cas Defendants’ second
motion for summary judgmemtust also be denied.

A. Standard of Review

Summary judgment is appropriate when the mecmonstrates that “there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movaantigled to judgment as matter of law.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 56(a)see also Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, J@Z7 U.S. 242, 256 (1986) (plaintiff

must present affirmative evidence in ordedédeat a properly supged motion for summary
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judgment).

When ruling on a summary judgment motion, ¢bert must construe the facts in the
light most favorable to the nonmoving partydanust resolve all ambiguities and draw all
reasonable inferences against the moving pahderson477 U.S. at 259latsushita Elec.
Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corpk75 U.S. 574, 587 (19863dickes v. S.H. Kress & C&98
U.S. 144, 158-59 (19703ee also Aldrich v. Randolph Cent. Sch. D#43 F.2d. 520, 523 (2d
Cir. 1992) (court is required toésolve all ambiguities and draw all inferences in favor of the
nonmoving party”). When a motion feummary judgment is properly supported by
documentary and testimonialidgnce, however, the nonmoving party may not rest upon the
mere allegations or denials of his pleadirigg, must present sufficient probative evidence to
establish a genuine issue of material facelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 327 (1986);
Colon v. Coughlin58 F.3d 865, 872 (2d Cir. 1995).

“Only when reasonable minds could not diféarto the import of the evidence is
summary judgment properBryant v. Maffucgi923 F.2d 979, 982 (2d Cir. 199%ge also
Suburban Propane v. Proctor Gas, In@53 F.2d 780, 788 (2d Cir. 1992). If the nonmoving
party submits evidence that is “merely cologgbbr is not “significatly probative,” summary
judgment may be granted\nderson477 U.S. at 249-50.

The mere existence of some allegadtfial dispute between the parties will
not defeat an otherwise properlypported motion for summary judgment;
the requirement is that there be nowgee issue of material fact. As to
materiality, the substantive law will identify which facts are material. Only
disputes over facts that might eft the outcome of the suit under the
governing law will properly preclude ¢hentry of summary judgment.
Factual disputes that are irrelevantunnecessary will not be counted.

Id. at 247-48. To present a genuine issue of material fact, there must be contradictory evidence

such that a reasonable jury coulture a verdict fothe nonmoving partyld. at 248.
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If the nonmoving party has failed take a sufficient showing @n essential element of his
case with respect to which he has the burdegradf at trial, then summary judgment is
appropriate.Celotex 477 U.S. at 322. In such a situatitrere can be no genuine issue as to
any material fact, since a complete failurgoajof concerning an essential element of the
nonmoving party’s case necessarily rasdal other facts immateriald. at 322-23accord
Goenaga v. March of Dimes Birth Defects Fousd. F.3d 14, 18 (2d Cir. 1995) (movant’'s
burden satisfied if he can point to an absesfeavidence to support an essential element of
nonmoving party’s claim). In shipif there is no genuinesse of material fact, summary
judgment may enterCelotex 477 U.S. at 323.

B. Discussion

Defendants move for summary judgment o idimaining false arrest and malicious
prosecution claims, arguing that the supplemaftalavits submitted in support of their motion
eliminate factual disputes requiring a trial onetifer the prosecution for interference terminated
in Shlomit’s favor. | disagree.

In order to prevail on her false arrest claBhjomit must establish that “(1) the defendant
intentionally arrested [her] or had [her] arrest@] the plaintiff was aare of the arrest; (3)
there was no consent to theesmt; and (4) the arrest was sopported by probable cause.”
Drew v. City of Groton2011 WL 2971768, at *6 (D. Conn.ly21, 2011) (internal citations
omitted). Although the Connecticut Supreme Court has not yet spoken on th8 iksue,

Second Circuit has held that faabte termination is an elemaoftfalse arrest under Connecticut

20 As other district courts have noted, “Ceuticut law is unsettled as to whether a
plaintiff, in order to prove a claim of false astemust show that th@osecution terminated in
his favor.” Spencer v. Connectigui60 F. Supp. 2d 153, 161-62 (D. Conn. 2008) (chifeyant
v. Okst,101 F.3d 845, 853 (2d Cir.1996)).

23



law. SeeMiles v. City of Hartforg445 F. App’x 379, 383 (2d Cir. 2011) (“[F]avorable
termination is an element of ‘a section 1983m sounding in false imprisonment or false
arrest.”) (quotingRoesch v. Otaroled80 F.2d 850, 952 (2d Cir. 1992).

Similarly, to prove a malicious prosecutiomich, Shlomit must show: “(1) the defendant
initiated or procured the institution of criminalggeedings against the plaintiff; (2) the criminal
proceedings terminated in favor of the plaint{f) the defendant acted without probable cause;
and (4) the defendant acted with malice, priméolya purpose other than that of bringing an
offender to justice.”Bauer v. City of Hartford2010 WL 4429697, at *10 (D. Conn. Oct. 29,
2010) (quotingBhatia v. Debek287 Conn. 397 (2008)).

A plaintiff “may satisfy the favorable termation element by showing that the charges . .
. were discharged without a trial under aimstances amounting tee abandonment of the
prosecution without request by hon arrangement with him.Frey v. Maloney476 F. Supp. 2d
141, 147 (D. Conn. 2007). As the Second Circag noted, the “majority of cases from
Connecticut courts interpret Coratieut law so that a nolle prequi satisfies the ‘favorable
termination’ element as long as the abandonment of the prosecution was not based on an
arrangement with the defendanfRRoberts v. Babkiewic582 F.3d 418, 421 (2d Cir. 2008ge

alsoHolman v. Cascip390 F. Supp. 2d 120, 123 (D. Conn. 2005) (“[A] nolle of a criminal

21 Roescls holding on this issue h&men called into questiorBee Spencer v. Connecticut
560 F. Supp. 2d 153, 161-62 (D. Conn. 2008) (ci@adpn v. Ludemanr283 F. Supp. 2d 747,
753-54 (D. Conn. 2003)). Moreover, as a maifdogic, it is posdile to contemplate
circumstances where tiRoeschrule would be inapplicablef-or instance, one can imagine a
plausible claim for false arrest where, at theetimh arrest, the officers lacked probable cause, but
sometime later—after the detention but befmn@secution—probable cause is uncovered. In
such a scenario, even in the absence of a faleotatmination, the arrest was still a “false”
arrest because there was no probable causea thie harm—the unjustified detention—was
complete. NeverthelesRpescHremains good law that this Court must follow absent a ruling to
the contrary from the Second Circaita Connecticut appellate courtMiles v. City of
Hartford, 2010 WL 148452 at *5 (D. Condan. 12, 2010) (citing cases).
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charge may still permit the plaintiff to satisfy [the favorable termination] element if the
circumstances of the nolle satisfy tBee v. Gosselirest? of an abandonment of prosecution
without request from or by an arrangement iitie defendant].”). However, “a nolle will
preclude a subsequent case for malicious prosecution when it is made as part of a plea bargain or
under other circumstances that indicate thatfendant received the nolle in exchange for
providing something of benetiv the state or victim."Holman 390 F. Supp. 2d at 123-24.

Here, Defendants contend that Shlomit'sdadsrest and malicious prosecution claims
fail because the current record, as supplemedtdonstrates that the nolle prosequi resulted
from a bargained-for exchange and, therefcaenot constitute a favorable termination. In
support, Defendants have submitted additional affidavits from Senior State’s Attorney Barbara
Hoffman, the prosecutor for the state criminal gear and Carl J. Fortuna, the attorney who

represented Shlomit on the state criminal charges.

?2|n See v. Gosselini33 Conn. 158, 159 (1946), the Cortiet Supreme Court first
encountered the question of whether a nolesequi may satisfy the element of favorable
termination. The Court noted tH&{t is generally held that thelaintiff must dlege and prove
that the criminal action terminated in his faveither by his acquittal or in some other manner
equivalent thereto.Id. In holding that the alfgations of the circumstances of the nolle in that
case satisfied the test, however, the court explained:

When we made “discharge” a conditiai bringing an action of malicious
prosecution, it signified théermination of the partical prosecution. It is not
necessary that the accused should have beguitted. It is sufficient if he was
discharged without a trial under circulistes amounting to an abandonment of
the prosecution without requesbiin or by arrangement with him.

Id. at 160. Although district cots have reached differentreclusions on whether a nolle
prosequi bars a claim of falserest or malicious prosecuticsgelLagasse v. City of Waterbyry
2011 WL 2709749, at *5 (D. Conn. July 12, 20%h¥ majority of courts, relying c8ee have

held that a nolle prosequi satisfies the favi@abrmination element as long as the abandonment
of the prosecution was not based oraalangement with the defenda@ee, e.gPizarro v.
Kasperzyk596 F. Supp. 2d 314, 318 (D. Conn. 2009).
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In her new affidavit, Barbara Hoffman atteghat “at the outset d¢fese proceedings, |
had a verbal agreement with Ms. Ruttkamp’s aggyi€arl Fortuna, Jr., &t | would enter nolles
in both cases if Ms. Ruttkamp completed tecommendations of the Family Relations
Division.” Aff. of Barbara Hoffman, at { 6{tached as Ex. B to State Trooper Defs.” Second
Mot. for Summ. J. (doc. # 51). Hoffmatated that “Ms. Ruttkamp completed the
recommendations . . . [and] at my directidssistant State’s Attorney Brian Kennedy . . .
entered the nolles.1d. at 7. Hoffman also indicatéldat, due to heavy caseloads and
insufficient time, it is customary for prosecuttosenter into verbal plea agreements in
misdemeanor casedd. at 8.

Mr. Fortuna, Shlomit’s former attorney testifietl: had an agreement with Senior State’s
Attorney Barbara Hoffman that, in excharfgemy client, Shlomit Ruttkamp, completing the
recommendations of the Family Relations Bign . . . Hoffman wou enter nolles to both
cases.” Aff. of Carl Fortunat 4, attached as Ex. C to State Trooper Defs.” Second Mot. for
Summ. J. (doc. # 51). Fortuna stated th&dr8h completed the recommendations and “Brian
Kennedy appeared . . . and entered the nolles.at § 5.

In response, Shlomit submitted a new affida¥iher own. In that affidavit, Shlomit
stated that she first met with a counselor, MarkAron, on her own initiative on or about July 9,
2009 and that she began counseling permaneittlyanother therapist, Linda Kaufman, on or
about July 16, 2009SeeAff. of Shlomit Ruttkamp, at 1 2-3, attached as Ex. 1 to Pl.’s Opp’n.
to Summ. J. (doc. # 56). According to Shirher first court apgarance and meeting with
Family Relations did not occuntil July 21, 2009—several dagfter she had already begun
counseling.ld. at § 4. Shlomit testified, “It is my understanding that a nolle was entered for the

charge in question . . . based upon the recomntiendaf the Family Relations Division . . . and
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not based upon anything that | Haatgained for or was subsequentyguired to do. No one. . .
ever told me | had any requirements to fulfill, including that | needed to complete any
recommendations or counselindgd. at 11 7-8. She concluded, “To my knowledge | did not
have an agreement with State’s Attorney Barbara Hoffmih.at 1 9. Shlomit also submitted a
letter from Mark D. Aron stating thdée met with Shlomit on July 9, 200SeeAff. of Mark

Aron, attached as Ex. 2 to PIGpp’n to Summ. J. (doc. # 56).

Thus, the survival of Shlomit’s remang claims turn on whether these competing
affidavits eliminate the need for trial on the issfiéavorable termination. If the prosecution for
interfering terminated in the ahtiff's favor, or if factualquestions remain on whether the
termination was favorable, both af@ survive summary judgmenfeeHolman,390 F. Supp.
2d at 124 (“The factual circunasices surrounding the nolle anaterial and when disputed,
must be resolved by the trierfafct.”). If not, summary judgmémust be granted in favor of
Defendants.

A termination is “unfavorable” when thereasquid pro quo exchange for the entry of the
nolle. Holman 390 F. Supp. 2d at 123-24. Generally speaking, a “contract” must be formed by
the parties entering into a bargained-for exchandeat 124. The prosecutor’'s mere exercise of
discretion in entering a nolle, in the absenca bargain, will not d&fy the standardSee
Pizarro v. Kasperzyks96 F. Supp. 2d 314, 318 (D. Conn. 2008) Connecticut, ‘termination
in favor of the plaintiff’ has been interpretad termination without ewsideration.”) (citing
DelLaurentis v. City of New Have220 Conn. 225, 251 (1991)). Where “the reasons for a
dismissal of charges are in dispute, the matteuld ordinarily be submitted to a juryRicciuti

v. N.Y.C. Transit Authorifyl24 F.3d 123, 131 (2d Cir. 1997).
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Although this case presents a close questioantlude that mateai issues of fact
remain on the circumstances surrounding the agittlge nolle in this case. Defendants argue
that Shlomit’s charges were terminated unfavorably pursuant to a verbal agreement between the
prosecutor and Shlomit’s attorney that a nalteuld be entered in exchange for Shlomit
completing the recommendations of Family Relas. But it remains unclear what those
“recommendations” were and whether Shlomit esanpleted them. According to Shlomit’s
sworn affidavit, no one ever gave layrequirements to fulfill nor informed her that she had to
complete any recommendations or caalimg for the nolléo be enteredSeeAff. of Shlomit
Ruttkamp, at § 8. Instead, Shlomit maintains g&t began counseling with a family therapist
prior to her first court appearaa on July 21, 2009 and that,lter knowledge, she never had
any agreement with the prosecut&ee idat {1 2-4.

Thus, even assuming, for the sake of arguntbat,Attorney Founa entered into an
agreement with the prosecutor—and that Shlomit was bound by that agreement despite her
ignorance of it—Shlomit was never given, mbd she complete, any recommendations by
Family Relations. Looking at these facts, as | minsthe light most favolae to the plaintiff, a
reasonable jury could conclutieat, regardless of whatever agreement her attorney may have
arranged, Shlomit never performed her side efttargain. Consequently, a jury could find that,
despite Shlomit’s failure to perfiar, the State’s Attorney decided,an act of discretion, to enter
the nolle anyway. Under these circumstanttesnolle could not have resulted from a
bargained-for exchange because Shlomit neupplied the promised consideration. Thus,
material issues of facemain regarding whether Shlomiparticipation in counseling was, in

fact, “consideration” for the entrof a nolle prosequi in this case, or whether it was merely
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“considered” by the State’s Attiaey in exercising discre&tn to unilaterally abandon the
prosecution.

Because the circumstances surrounding thie moé in dispute, genuine issues of
material fact remain to be resolvadd summary judgment is inappropriagee Holman390 F.
Supp. 2d at 125-26 (“Although a close call, thenil#ls deposition testimony that the nolles
were not entered as part of a plea bargaintlaaicthe nolles were entered over two years after
his arrest, is enough to withstand a motionsiammary judgment. The plaintiff has created a
genuine issue of materitct whether his case was favorablyneated, one that a trier of fact
must resolve.”)Haynes v. City of New Londo2002 WL 1204956 &R (D. Conn. Aug. 29,
2005) (denying motion for summary judgment atatee arrest claim because “the exact
circumstances and intent behind the nolles atemiirely clear”). Accordingly, Defendants’
second motion for summary judgmédoc. # 51) must be denied.

V. Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, Defendantsom®for reconsidetan (docs. # 49 and #
50) and second motion for summang@gment (doc. # 51) are DENIED.

It is so ordered.

Dated at Bridgeport, Connectictibis 20th day of August 2012.

/sl Stefan R. Underhill
Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge
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